NOTES ON THE CHURCH AND SOME SCULPTURED MONUMENTS IN THE CHURCHYARD OF SAINT MAELRUBHA IN ARISAIG, AND ON AN ARTIFICIAL ISLAND THERE; ALSO ON SOME SCULPTURED MONUMENTS IN THE CHURCHYARD OF KILCHOAN, KNOYDART.

BY REV. F. ODO BLUNDELL, F.S.A. Scot.

The church of Kilmarui (St Maelrubha) is situated on rising ground about 50 feet above the bay of Arisaig, and some 200 yards from the shore. The building (fig. 1) lies almost east and west. It is constructed of random rubble, the stones not being dressed or laid in straight, but in sloping courses. The north and south walls and the west gable are still at their full height, but the east wall has fallen down and has been roughly rebuilt. At present the walls are 10 feet 3 inches high on the outside, the gable rising 12 feet 6 inches. The doorway is at present only 5 feet 6 inches high, but appears to have been filled in to the extent of about 2 feet, and presumably the interior of the church has also been filled up to that extent, as one window sash is now only 1 foot 6 inches from the ground. The main church measures 24 feet 6 inches in breadth, whilst the length of the north wall is 50 feet 2 inches, and that of the south wall is 52 feet. This unusual inequality is doubly confirmed, the interior measurement being 41 feet on the north side and 43 feet on the south, whilst diagonally, to points 20 feet from each corner, the measurement is 27 feet by 25 feet 10 inches. The church is lighted by three windows: the one on the north side has a 6 inches light by 3 feet 9 inches, with
a deep bevel, so that interiorly it measures 4 feet 6 inches across by 5 feet high, and is at present 2 feet 7 inches from the inside floor. The window on the south side is of similar construction, but is lower in the wall, and is not immediately facing the former. There is also a window into the smaller chapel 3 feet 2 inches by 2 feet 10 inches, the opening being almost straight.

Besides the church proper there is at the west end a smaller chapel adjoining, but whether this is of the same date as the church I am not capable of deciding. The outside measurements of this smaller chapel are 15 feet 9 inches by 14 feet 9 inches. The doorway is on the south side, and is now only 4 feet high; the opening is 2 feet 8 inches. The walls are of similar construction to those of the larger church, though slightly higher (12 feet 6 inches). Besides the window looking into the larger church, this chapel has two others, one on the south side and one on the west, both with 7-inch lights, the opening with deep splays measuring 3 feet by 2 feet 6 inches. Below the window on the south is a peculiar recess,
measuring 2 feet by 2 feet 6 inches, and ending in a circular hole 5 inches across.

Opposite the door, again, there is a recess, the history of which it would be interesting to unravel. It now contains two remarkable stones. One of these is at present lying on the ground and just fills the floor of the recess; it measures 6 feet by 2 feet 6 inches. The surface of this stone appears to be all worn away except the carved border, which can still be traced. The arch of this recess is 5 feet in the centre, and springs from a straight of 2 feet. The arch is constructed of freestone, nicely dressed. The stone projects 4 inches, with a 6-inch face, and with a chamfer of 1 inch off the lower face.

At present the ends of two supports project through the wall, suggest-
ing that this slab was originally not on the ground, but at the height of 2 feet 3 inches, probably therefore covering a tomb. Just at this height there has been inserted the second stone, which bears the Macdonald arms and the date 1671.

The sculptured stones, which now all lie within the walls of the
NOTES ON THE CHURCH OF SAINT MAELRUBHA IN ARISAIG. 357

church, were probably removed there for greater safety, though they are mentioned as “within the chapel” as early as 1700.

No. 1. A slab of slate (fig. 3), of which little more than half the length now exists. The design is divided into two panels or niches. In the right panel is the Crucifixion, and in the left an ecclesiastic, who bears the chalice in his two hands and is vested in chasuble; further, it appears that his headgear is the ancient form of mitre, thus marking him out as a bishop, whilst confirmation of this might be found in the tunicle and dalmatic which he appears to wear.

No. 2. A slate slab (fig. 4), of which, again, only half now remains. The upper portion is occupied by a foliated cross; the double-handed sword fills the centre, and above the pommel is a hunting scene, in which appear the archer with his bow, the hound on a leash, the hind and the stag. Below them, again, is another animal.

No. 3. A slab of freestone (fig. 4), 64 inches long, of uneven breadth; the upper portion is occupied by a foliated cross, then comes the sword filling the centre, completely surrounded by the foliated design which starts from the tail of the beast.

No. 4. A slab of freestone (fig. 4), covered with interlaced work. It is now broken in half.

No. 5. A slate slab (fig. 4), apparently never finished.

No. 6, a fragment of a slate slab (fig. 5), is very interesting. The uppermost figure represents apparently a martyr, whilst in the lower panel are a hind and a hound. Along with this is another fragment representing an archer, and this was complete until quite recently, when it was broken. In connection with this last remark, it may be mentioned that the practice exists of placing one of these stones over any recent interment, so that one wonders that they are still in such good preservation. In order to stop this custom, two of the stones have been set in cement, so that these will not be moved about so much in future.

Within the chapel are also preserved the ancient baptismal font.

1 Or probably a conventional emblem of mortality.
and a smaller stone, probably used for holy water. The last remark I have to offer in connection with this chapel is the fact of its being ascribed to Allan nan Creach, the celebrated freebooter, who vowed, if he recovered from a mortal illness, to build seven churches. Portions of these churches are still extant, and it would be an interesting work to compare their construction, and so confirm the tradition.

Fig. 5. At Kilmarui (No. 6).

**Artificial Island in Loch nan Eala.**

At the invitation of Mr Nicolson, C.B., of Arisaig House, an investigation was made of the artificial island in Loch nan Eala (The Lake of the Swans). This loch is situated half a mile from the shore
of Arisaig bay, the northernmost part of it coming close to the railway station. At present the loch is of small size, but at the time when Clanranald fished therein from the windows of his residence the loch extended up to the present house, called Glen Cottage, and measured 3/4 of a mile from N. to S. and 1/4 of a mile from E. to W. The cause why the waters of the loch receded so much was that the late Mr Astley cut a deep canal from the loch to the sea in order to use the loch water to drive a mill at Mains farm. When the mill was abandoned, the waters of the loch were given free passage to the sea, with the result that the loch was reduced in size, and what had been good trout fishing, according to the tradition already mentioned, became excellent grazing. It is now many years since the woodwork of the artificial island was noticed, but the present is the first occasion when any account of it has been presented to the public.

The first step towards investigating the island was to clear away the long grass and rushes, and to remove the moss and lichen which had grown upon the uppermost layer of trees. After a careful workman had been engaged on this for a couple of days, the party, including the present writer, Mr and Miss Nicolson, Dr Campbell, and Mr Kerr, the factor, met on the island, and were at once surprised at the great amount of the structure still to be seen. The autumn having been very dry, the circumstances were most favourable for the inspection. At present the island is little more that 1 foot above the surrounding land, but it is evident from what has been said as to the waters of the loch being originally some feet higher, that the island also was 3 to 4 feet higher than at present. This is little surprising, in view of the fact that the surrounding peat bog is very soft, and would easily yield to the weight of the stones and wood packed together.

As to the construction, the upper layer is composed of oak trees laid side by side, the longest measuring 53 feet in length and 30 inches in circumference. Under the first layer are two more lying in the
Fig. 6. Platform of logs on Island in Loch nan Eala.
same direction, but these are of birch; under these, again, are two or three layers at right angles to the former, all the lower layers being of much lighter timber. The whole mass of wood was more than 4 feet deep. It was interesting to find that the birch had the bark still on and looked quite fresh. When cut, the wood had a pinkish colour, which rapidly changed on exposure to the air to a bluish grey.

In view of the fact that the canal cut by Mr Astley was through solid rock, there is little hope of lowering the water any more, unless it be by clearing out the canal, which might lower the water a small amount. It would thus appear that our investigations went as far as could easily be done. It was somewhat of a disappointment to learn that some years ago the farmer at Mains carted away a quantity of ashes from the island and used them for some purpose connected with his holding. This was undoubtedly the ancient ashpit, of which only traces can now be found, though the site upon the island is well remembered.

The main platform of logs is enclosed by sloping stays, which still stand up at an angle of 45 degrees, while, some 6 feet further out, is another line of stays, sloping at the same angle. Two of these stays were taken out and were found to be roughly pointed, evidently with an axe, whilst the larger timbers also seemed to have been subjected to the axe. The island at present measures 50 feet from N. to S., and almost exactly the same from E. to W., whilst the outer line of stays are about 6 feet beyond.

**Sculptured Slabs at Kilchoan in Knoydart.**

It may not be out of place here to mention that the first information regarding the sculptured stones at Kilmarnock was contained in a letter of the year 1700, written by Bishop Nicolson to his correspondent in Rome. Bishop Nicolson had recently travelled through great part of the West Highlands, and his letter contains some
most interesting details. In connection with our present subject he says: "Kilmarnui (the cell or church of St Malrubha) is close to Keppoch in Arisaig. In this chapel there are several tombs of a hard bluish stone, on which there are some ancient figures very well carved, but without inscription for the most part. One would not have thought that the people of these countries had as much skill in sculpture as these tombs show them to have had. There are some on which a priest, wearing the ancient form of chasuble, is engraved; others have only figures of arms, such as large swords, or else figures of birds and other animals. There are similar tombs on Eilean Finnan (where the lairds of Moydart are buried), in Eigg, in Uist, Barra, and in several other islands off the north of Scotland. In this respect Icolmkill, anciently called Hy, is very noteworthy. The tombs of the ancient kings of Scotland and of all the chief families in the Highlands were there; and the Highlanders think, with considerable probability, that after the decadence of religion, when the abbey had been profaned and ruined, the chiefs each brought back to the churches on their own lands some of the tombs of their forefathers. I also saw two stone crosses, well carved with strange figures, one in the cemetery of St Columba, in the Isle of Canna, and the other at Kilchoan (i.e. church of St Comgan) in Knoydart, where is the burial-place of the lairds of that country. The tradition of these carved stones having been brought from Iona I have found still to exist in three of the above-mentioned places, whilst one ingenious suggestion has been made to the effect that stones such as these were carved in great numbers in Iona, where, to use a modern phrase, they were kept in stock, and provided on demand to the different applicants. There is certainly a great similarity of design, especially in the hunting scenes."

The stone cross (fig. 7) mentioned in the foregoing letter is still standing in the cemetery of Kilchoan. Although at present only 2 feet
10 inches above the ground, the men of the place assured me that they had, even quite recently, seen 3 feet and more under the ground. The cross is 4 inches thick, and measures 2 feet across the arms. Through the centre is a strange hole 3 inches square, around which there is interlacing of a not uncommon pattern. At the head of the cross on the one side is a horse and rider, and on the other side a galley. I am glad to say that arrangements are being made to raise this fine cross to its original height. Situated as it is on a little hillock in the centre of the churchyard, it will then form a really imposing monument.

No. 2 (fig. 8) is a freestone slab at present almost embedded in soil, and appears to have remained unmoved for a long time; it is, in fact, in perfect preservation. The centre of the stone is occupied by a large double-handed sword, round which the tail of a beast is carried, with foliated variations. At the foot of the stone is a whole hunting
Fig. 8. Slabs at Kilchoan (Nos. 2 and 3).
scene—hunter with bow and arrow, hound and quarry of stag and hind together. Opposite to this is a galley.

No. 3 (fig. 8). A very rough slab, apparently of schist, which has evidently proved hard to work. There is a scroll down one side and foliated decoration down the other. In the right-hand corner is a pair of shears.

---

MONDAY, 10th April 1911.

THOMAS ROSS, LL.D., in the Chair.

A Ballot having been taken, the following were duly elected:—

Corresponding Member. Recommended by the Council.

JAMES M. GOUDIE, J.P., Lerwick, Shetland.

Fellows.


A. W. SUTHERLAND-GRAEME, 36 Clifton Road, Aberdeen.

The following Donations to the Museum and Library were laid on the table, and thanks voted to the Donors:—

(1) By ALEX. O. CURLE, Secretary.

Hammerstone, a natural pebble, $3\frac{3}{4}$ inches by $3\frac{7}{16}$ by 2 inches, with a slight cavity on one of its broad faces, from Gatehousecote, Hobkirk, Roxburghshire.

Seven small fragments of brownish unglazed pottery from a refuse heap at Bucholly Castle, Caithness.
DONATIONS TO THE MUSEUM AND LIBRARY.


Four oval polished knives of porphyritic stone, of Shetland type, being the remainder completing the hoard of eleven found at Eshaness in 1900, of which the other seven were presented to the Museum in 1906 by Mr R. C. Haldane, of Lochend, F.S.A. Scot. (Proceedings, vol. xl. p. 151). The hoard of eleven of these knives was come upon in making a road at Eshaness, Northmavine, Shetland, in 1900. They lay packed closely with the edges uppermost, 9 inches deep, in a gravelly subsoil, from above which it was estimated by the finder that there had been removed a superincumbent covering of about 4 feet of peat and soil. The four now presented by Mr Goudie are as follows:

No. 1. Of pale greyish stone with small spots, sub-quadrangular in shape, 6 1/2 by 5 1/8 by 1/4 inches in greatest thickness near the centre; the outer margins ground to a sharp edge all round, one corner broken.

No. 2. Of the same light greyish stone, with a bluish tinge at one side, 5 1/2 by 5 by 3/8 inches in greatest thickness near the centre, two corners broken on the same side; the margins ground to a sharp edge all round.

No. 3. Of similar light greyish stone, oblong, 6 3/8 by 4 1/2 by 1/8 inches in greatest thickness near the centre, the back 9/16 of an inch in thickness and almost straight, but rough; the other three sides ground to a continuous edge all round.

No. 4. Of similar light greyish stone, oblong, 5 3/8 by 4 by 3/8 inches in greatest thickness near the centre, the back straight, but ground to a blunt edge; the other three sides ground to a continuous edge all round.

(3) By J. P. WATSON, W.S., F.S.A. Scot.

Halfpenny Token, commemorating the establishment of mail coaches, payable in London. Obverse—A coach and horses in the
centre, TO TRADE EXPEDITION AND TO PROPERTY PROTECTION. Reverse—TO J. PALMER THIS IS INSCRIBED AS A TOKEN OF GRATITUDE FOR BENEFITS RECEIVED FROM THE ESTABLISHMENT OF MAILCOACHES 1797.

(4) By Dr W. BANNERMAN, F.S.A. Scot.

Pair of old Spectacles in case, a Penner with Ink-bottle, and a Snuff-box with rose painted on the lid.

(5) By Mrs L. L. A. PANTER.

A Photograph of the Fresco in Wickhampton Church, Norfolk, of "Les trois Vifs, et les trois Morts." In a letter to Dr Anderson, sending the photo, Mrs Panter states that she is desirous of presenting it to the Museum in memory of her husband, the late Rev. Charles R. Panter, M.A., LL.D., F.S.A. Scot. The circumstances connected with its production were peculiar. Last January a letter arrived at the Rectory, Wickhampton, for Dr Panter, whose funeral sermon had been preached the preceding Sunday. The letter was from Dr W. F. Storck, of the Science and Art Department, Heidelberg University, who is preparing a work entitled *Die Legende von den drei Lebenden und von den drei Toden*, giving an account of all the examples known in Europe. Dr Storck had learned that this legend-painting existed at Wickhampton Church, and asked Dr Panter if he could have a photograph of it. Mrs Panter felt it to be her sacred duty to give Dr Storck all the assistance in her power. But the labour involved was herculean. The fresco, which is much faded and partially mutilated, could not be reproduced by photography in the ordinary way, but had to be photographed from a tracing taken by means of a 36-foot ladder and scaffolding—the wall-space occupied by the mural painting being 20 feet by 10 feet, and the bottom of it 16 feet above the floor. It had been whitewashed over at least twice, and when, about sixty years ago, the roof was being repaired, considerable damage was
done to the wall before the fresco was found, the plaster having been cut away so that the head-dress of the living figures was injured. As will be seen in the illustration from the photograph (fig. 1), the subject consists of two parts, bordered and separated by growing tree-trunks. To the right are three kings at different stages of life, young, middle-aged, and old; to the left are three standing skeletons—what the former shall come to be. In the foreground a young huntsman is seen holding in leash a straining greyhound, and a hare is speeding along in wild terror. It is unique in Great Britain, and is considered to be fourteenth-century work, having been probably executed for the famous Robert de Lincoln, first Rector of Wickhampton.

(6) By the Right Hon. Sir Herbert Maxwell, Bart., LL.D., D.C.L., the Author.

The Making of Scotland—Lectures on the War of Independence delivered in the University of Glasgow. 8vo. 1911.

(7) By George MacDonald, LL.D., the Author.

The Roman Wall in Scotland. 8vo. 1911.
(8) By John Fraser, H.M. Customs, Leith.

Through Edinburgh, and an Itinerary of some of the Haunts and Homes of King Robert the Bruce, Mary Queen of Scots, Burns, and Scott. By Rhona Sutherland. 8vo. 1905.

Notes on the History of the Parish of Lairg, chiefly from Presbytery and Kirk Session Records. By Donald Macrae, B.D., Minister of the Parish. 12mo. Wick. 1898.

(9) By the Master of the Rolls.


The following Communications were read:—